
Chittenden County Public Safety Board of Directors 
4/18/18 7:30-9:00AM 

Colchester Town Hall, 781 Blakely Road 
 

Agenda 
 

1. Call to Order/Introductions 
 

2. Oath of Office 
 

3. Election of Officers: Board Members - Chair, Vice-Chair, Secretary, and Treasurer 
 

4. Rules of Transaction/Annual Meeting Items  
 

5. Agenda Approval 
 

6. Public Comment 
 

7. Treasurer Request 
 

8. VLCT Membership 
 

9. Insurance Quotes 
 

10. Becoming a PSAP  
 

11. Moving Forward 
 

12. Technical Assistance 
 

13. Funding & Expense Report 
 

14. Board Communications and Other Matters 
 

11. Next Meetings 
• Wednesday 5/16/18 8:00-9:30 AM Colchester Town Offices, Second Floor, Champlain 

Room 
 

12. Adjournment 







1

AGREEMENT TO CREATE THE
CHITTENDEN COUNTY PUBLIC SAFETY AUTHORITY

This Agreement for the formation of a union municipal district, to be known

as the “Chittenden County Public Safety Authority,” is authorized by 24 V.S.A.,

Chapter 121, and is by and among those municipalities, listed below, that approve

the same by action of their respective voters, as provided in 24 V.S.A. § 4863:

Burlington, Colchester, Essex, Milton, Shelburne, South Burlington, Williston, and

Winooski.

WHEREAS, 24 V.S.A., Chapter 121, provides that the legislative branch of

two or more Vermont municipalities may, by agreement, create a joint municipal

survey committee to plan for the strengthening of local governments and to promote

plans for more efficient and economical operation of local government services

within the participating municipalities; and

WHEREAS, a joint municipal survey committee, so created, may, pursuant to

24 V.S.A. § 4832, “make surveys and studies and conduct research programs to

enable municipalities to make the most efficient use of their powers by cooperation

with other municipalities on a basis of mutual advantage, and thereby to provide

services and facilities in a manner and pursuant to forms of governmental

organization that will accord best with geographic, economic, population and other

factors influencing the needs and development of municipalities;” and

WHEREAS, 24 V.S.A. § 4861 provides that a joint survey committee may

approve the creation of a union municipal district and, upon so doing, shall prepare

an agreement for the formation of the district and file a copy with the legislative

body, planning commission, and clerk of each participating municipality; and

WHEREAS, a joint municipal survey committee, created to plan, study and

recommend solutions for an affordable, integrated, and efficient system of

cooperative public safety support, specialty and communications services -- and first

having sought the consent of the respective legislative bodies of the potential

municipal members of the Chittenden County Public Safety Authority -- has

approved the creation of a union municipal district to provide public safety dispatch

and support services to its Members and others; and

WHEREAS, 24 V.S.A. § 4802, requires submission of a proposed agreement

to form a union municipal district to appropriate governmental authorities,

including the attorney general, who must approve the same, prior to submission to

the voters for approval or rejection; and



2

WHEREAS, under 24 V.S.A. § 4883(d), where three or more municipalities

are involved in the voting, an affirmative Australian ballot vote by the voters of at

least two potential member municipalities is required to enter into an agreement

for the formation of a union municipal district, unless the agreement as proposed

expressly provides that specific participating municipalities or a minimum number

of participating municipalities approve the agreement; and

WHEREAS, by the terms hereof, the Chittenden County Public Safety

Authority shall be formed only if the voters in three or more municipalities approve

this Agreement;

NOW, THEREFORE, upon approval of this Agreement by the attorney

general and the voters of the required number of municipalities, as referenced

above, it is hereby agreed as follows:

1. Name.

A union municipal district, known as the CHITTENDEN COUNTY PUBLIC

SAFETY AUTHORITY (hereafter “CCPSA” or the “Authority”), shall be formed and

become a body politic and corporate, with the powers incident to a public

corporation under the laws of the State of Vermont, and with such other powers,

duties and responsibilities as are set forth in this Agreement.

2. Purpose.

The purpose of the CCPSA is to provide its members with an affordable, integrated,

efficient system of public safety communications services. To that end, the

Authority seeks to protect public health, safety and welfare, provide sufficient

qualified and trained communications staff to support and facilitate rapid responses

by public safety personnel when emergency situations arise, and otherwise meet the

dispatch needs of its Members and the public. To improve response times, the

Authority intends to operate as a “Public Safety Answering Point,” as defined by the

Vermont Enhanced 9-1-1 Board.

3. Duration.

CCPSA shall be established as of the effective date of the affirmative vote to enter

into this Agreement by the requisite number of municipalities and continue to exist

in perpetuity unless dissolved by its members pursuant to 24 V.S.A. § 4863 and the

provisions hereof.



3

4. Powers.

(a) The CCPSA shall possess, pursuant to the provisions of 24 V.S.A., Chapter 121,

and other applicable provisions of state law, all of the power and authority available

to or vested in a union municipal district, including all powers, rights, privileges

and immunities incident to public corporations, together with all powers reasonably

implied in or incident to the exercise of those powers. The authority granted to the

CCPSA by this Agreement is supplementary to any other powers heretofore or

hereafter granted by statute for the same or similar purposes.

(b) In furtherance of its purposes, the Authority shall have full power to hold and

keep invested, or expend for its purposes, such monies as are appropriated to it by

its member municipalities, to establish and adopt budgets, to borrow money and

issue evidence of indebtedness, to establish sinking funds, to charge members for

services, to establish capital reserve funds, to accept gifts, grants, and bequests, to

make payments in lieu of taxes, to contract with banks, insurance companies and

other financial institutions, as well as with host communities, private businesses,

non-profit corporations and other governments for the provision of services or

otherwise. Nothing herein shall be construed to limit the Authority’s power to

receive, invest and use fiscal resources to advance the purposes of this Agreement in

the same manner and to the same extent that such powers could be exercised by

any of its member municipalities pursuant to law. The foregoing sentence includes

the power to borrow money and issue evidence of indebtedness as provided by 24

V.S.A. chapter 53 (indebtedness) and other provisions of law authorizing general

obligations or revenue debt, including applicable provisions of 10 V.S.A. chapter 12

(Vermont Economic Development Authority) and 24 V.S.A. chapter 119 (Municipal

Bond Bank).

5. Definitions.

As used in this Agreement:

(a) "Board" means the Board of Directors of the Chittenden County Public Safety

Authority.

(b) “CCPSA” or "Authority" means the Chittenden County Public Safety Authority,

a union municipal district.

(c) “Director” means the designated or duly appointed representative of a Member,

or the duly appointed representative of the Contracting Municipalities, described

herein. The Directors shall sit on the Board of the CCPSA, represent the Members



4

or Contracting Municipalities, and collectively have authority over and

responsibility for the conduct and operations of the CCPSA.

(d) "Members" means those municipalities whose admission to and participation in

the Authority has been authorized pursuant to Section 22 of this Agreement.

(e) “Contracting Municipalities” means those municipalities or public safety

agencies that have not been admitted to this Authority pursuant to Section 22 of

this Agreement, but that have contracted for public safety communications services

with the Authority.

(f) "Person" means any natural person, corporation, municipality, the State of

Vermont or any department, agency or subdivision of the state, and any

partnership, unincorporated association, or other legal entity.

6. Board of Directors.

(a) All power and authority of the CCPSA shall be exercised by the Board, acting by

majority vote of the Directors. Meetings of the Board shall be subject to the

requirements of the Vermont Open Meeting Law and a quorum of the Board shall

exist when more than fifty percent of the Directors are in attendance.

(b) Composition; Delegation. Each member of the Authority shall be represented by

a Director. Each Director shall be the municipal manager or in the absence of a

manager form of government, the mayor of the Member, or the municipal manager

or mayoral designee. In the absence of a municipal manager or mayor, the

legislative body of each Member shall appoint a qualified person to serve as a

Director. Each Director, acting through the Board and subject to the limitations

set forth herein, shall have full power and authority to make decisions and take

action to ensure the effective provision of public safety dispatch and support

services within the region covered by CCPSA without seeking further authorization

from the legislative body of the specific municipality that he or she represents.

(c) Contracting Municipalities; Director. The Directors of the member municipalities

shall solicit nominations for and appoint an independent Director to represent all

Contracting Municipalities, if any, served by the Authority. Once appointed, the

Director for the Contracting Municipalities shall have sole authority to represent

the Contracting Municipalities as a member of the Board. The process and terms of

such appointment, and the scope of the authority of the Director for the Contracting

Municipalities shall be delineated in the CCPSA’s Bylaws.



5

(d) Oath of office. All Directors shall take an oath of office substantially similar to

the oath taken by public officials under 12 V.S.A. § 5813. Such oath may be

administered by any person authorized by law to administer oaths and shall be

taken by each Director during the Board’s annual organizational meeting or, if a

Director is not present during the organizational meeting, prior to the first meeting

in which he or she seeks to participate as a Director.

(e) The Authority shall reimburse Directors for expenses as the Board shall, in its

discretion, determine.

(f) The Board shall establish, adopt, and adhere to a written Ethics and Conflict of

Interest Policy.

7. Organizational meeting.

(a) Annually, on the first Wednesday in April, or on such other date in April as is

duly noticed to Members by posting at the Members’ municipal offices at least seven

(7) calendar days in advance, the Board shall hold its organizational meeting at a

time and place designated by the Board Chair. The aforementioned notice and

posting requirements shall be in addition to any other requirements set forth in the

Vermont Open Meeting Law.

(b) At the organizational meeting, the Board shall elect from among its Membership

a Chair and a Vice Chair, each of whom shall hold office for one year or until a

successor is duly elected and qualified. No Director shall be elected Chair for more

than three consecutive terms unless he or she receives the affirmative vote of at

least a majority of the Members of the Board plus at least one additional member.

8. Resignation; Vacancy.

(a) A Director may resign at any time by notice to the Chair of the Authority and to

the appointing authority of the Member that he or she represents or to the

Contracting Municipalities, as the case may be. A Director who is a municipal

manager shall resign as a Director if he or she is no longer employed by the

municipality that he or she represents or, if a mayor, if he or she is not re-elected.

The foregoing sentence shall also apply to designees of a municipal manager or

mayor in the circumstances described above.

(b) When, for any reason, there is a vacancy on the Board the appointing authority

of the Member whose seat is vacant shall, within 45 days, appoint a new Director

whose eligibility is defined in subsection 6(b). The appointment shall be made by



6

official action of the appointing authority of the Member, and if done by the

legislative body, evidenced in its approved minutes. In all cases, appointments

shall be certified by the chair or vice chair of the legislative body of the Member to

the Secretary of the Authority.

9. Officers.

The officers of the Authority shall be the Chair and the Vice Chair of the Board, the

Secretary of the Authority, and the Treasurer of the Authority. There may also be

an assistant secretary and an assistant treasurer, as provided below. The Chair of

the Board shall have the same duties and authority as the chair of a municipal

legislative body under Vermont law. In the Chair’s absence, the Vice Chair shall

fulfill the duties and responsibility of, and have the same authority as, the Chair.

10. Secretary.

(a) The Secretary of the Authority shall be appointed by the Board and may be a

Director. The Secretary, with the approval of the Board, may appoint an assistant

secretary, who shall not be a Director. The Secretary or the Board may withdraw

any appointment to the position of assistant secretary at any time. The Secretary

shall serve at the Board’s pleasure and shall perform all of the duties and functions

described in the CCPSA Bylaws, including, without limitation, the following:

(1) The Secretary shall have charge and custody of the public records of the

Authority and its seal.

(2) The Secretary shall take the minutes of the Authority, in conformance

with the Vermont Open Meeting Law, and shall prepare and cause to be posted and

published, as required by the Open Meeting Law, all warnings of meetings of the

Authority.

(3) Following approval by the Board, the Secretary shall cause the annual

report of the Authority to be distributed to the legislative bodies of the Members.

The Secretary shall prepare, produce and, as appropriate, distribute any other

reports or documents required by the laws of the State of Vermont, including the

Vermont Public Records Act, and/or resolutions or rules of the Board.

(4) Such other duties and responsibilities as assigned to the Secretary by the

Board.



7

11. Treasurer.

(a) The Treasurer of the Authority shall be appointed by the Board and may be a

Director. In the absence of the Treasurer, the functions of Treasurer shall fall to

Secretary, then Vice Chair, then Chair. The Treasurer shall keep an account of

moneys, bonds, notes, and evidences of debt paid or delivered to him or her, and of

moneys paid out by the CCPSA. On at least a monthly basis, the Treasurer shall

review the accounts of the CCPSA, and shall have the authority to approve

disbursal of all payments of the Authority, and report to the Board on each review

at the next meeting of the Board, including the total amount of each warrant

approved with individual vendor payments, and notations of any payments not

approved. The Treasurer, with the approval of the Board, may appoint an assistant

treasurer, who shall not be a Director. The Treasurer or the Board may withdraw

any appointment to the position of assistant treasurer at any time. The Treasurer

shall serve at the Board’s pleasure and shall, as applicable, perform all of the duties

and functions incident to the office of treasurer of a body politic and corporate, as

described in the CCPSA Bylaws and Vermont law.

(b) The Treasurer shall have the custody of the funds of the Authority and shall be

the disbursing officer of the Authority. The Treasurer or assistant treasurer shall

sign, make, or endorse in the name of the Authority all checks and orders for the

payment of monies and pay out and disburse the same. Board Members or CCPSA

staff with check signing or fund disbursement authority shall be bonded or similarly

insured.

12. Administrative Personnel.

The Board may appoint a Public Safety Communications Director who shall have

the authority to employ other personnel as necessary for the conduct of the business

of the Authority. The Public Safety Communications Director shall serve at the

Board’s pleasure and subject to such rules, policies and requirements as the Board

may establish.

13. Audit.

The Board shall cause an audit or outside review of its financial records to be

performed annually by an independent professional accounting firm or a certified

public accountant, either directly or, if financial records and statement development

is performed by another governmental entity for the Authority, through contract

with another governmental entity. The audit, upon completion, shall be shared

with the legislative bodies of the Members.



8

14. Committees.

The Board shall have the authority to establish any and all committees as it may

deem necessary, including committees with Membership other than Directors. The

Board shall establish an advisory committee comprised of the Members’ public

safety chiefs or their designees. The Board shall define the mission, term,

authority, and appointment process for any committee prior to its establishment.

15. Fiscal year.

The fiscal year of the Authority shall commence on July 1 and end on June 30 of

each year.

16. Budget appropriation and assessment.

(a) For the first two years of each new Member’s participation in the Authority as a

recipient of dispatch services, the Board may vote to allow an alternative budget

process which shall substitute for steps (b), (c) and (d), below, as follows: the budget,

subject to the approval of the Board, may consist of any funding made available to

the Authority from Members and other sources, including but not limited to funding

new Members had budgeted to operate their own separate dispatch services, in

addition to any funds made available through steps (b), (c), and (d). The details of

this process are set forth in Appendix A.

(b) Proposed budget.

(1) Annually on or before the first Monday in October, the Board shall prepare a

budget for the Authority for the next fiscal year, which shall include an estimate of

the revenue of the Authority from fees and other sources, revenues from each

member’s assessment, and expenses for the next fiscal year, including operating

and planning expenses, debt service, payments due on long-term contracts,

payments due to any sinking funds for the retirement of indebtedness, payments

due to any capital reserve funds, debt service reserve funds, operating reserve

funds, and payments due to any other funds established by the Authority. The

budget shall be in such form as deemed most useful and desirable by the Board, and

shall be so arranged to show budgeted income and expenditures for the upcoming

and current fiscal year and budgeted and estimated or actual income and

expenditures from the preceding two fiscal years.

(2) The Board shall warn an informational meeting of the voters of the Members on

or before the second Friday in October each year for the purpose of presenting the



9

proposed budget and inviting discussion thereon. The informational meeting shall

be held within the boundaries of one of the Members and shall be warned by a

notice published in a newspaper of general circulation serving each Member at least

10 calendar days prior to the meeting. The notice shall contain a summary of the

proposed budget, including the specific amount proposed as the Authority’s total

expenses, and instruction on where a copy of the full budget may be inspected. The

legislative body of each Member shall be sent a copy of the notice, together with a

copy of the full proposed budget at least 10 calendar days prior to such meeting.

(c) Approval of Proposed Budget.

(1) Following the informational meeting provided for in subsection (b)(2), above, and

no later than the first Monday in November, the Board shall review the proposed

budget in light of comments received at the meeting, and shall thereupon vote on

the proposed budget to be presented to the legislative bodies of each Member for

approval or disapproval pursuant to subsection (c)(2), below, with or without

changes.

(2) Within 30 days of the endorsement of the proposed budget by the Board, the

legislative body of each Member shall act to approve or disapprove the proposed

budget. The budget shall be approved if affirmatively voted by a majority of the

legislative bodies of the Members and the Director for the Contracting

Municipalities, whose vote on the proposed budget shall be included for the purpose

of determining whether an affirmative vote of a majority has been achieved. Each

Member and the Director representing the Contracting Municipalities shall be

entitled to one vote.

(3) Notwithstanding subsection (c)(2), above, if the budget for a future fiscal year is

proposed to increase more than one and one half percent (1.5%) in excess of the

Consumer Price Index for Urban Areas (CPI-U), or a successor index, over the

current fiscal year budget, voting on the budget shall be weighted as follows: There

shall be 100 votes with 51 votes constituting a majority. Votes shall be allocated to

each Member and the Director representing the Contracting Municipalities

according to their two year average call volume allocation in FY 2018, three year

average call volume allocation in FY 2019 and thereafter until the long term

contribution funding formula is implemented, in which case the 100 votes shall be

allocated on the same basis as the long term contribution formula, as set forth in

Appendix A. The Director representing the Contracting Municipalities shall vote

the shares of all of the Contracting Municipalities together.



10

(4) In the event that the legislative body of a Member or the Director representing

the Contracting Municipalities fails to approve a proposed budget, the legislative

body or Director shall file with the Board a written statement identifying those

specific budget items to which objection is made and any modifications sought.

Failure to file such a written statement of objections within 30 days of disapproval

by the legislative body or a Member or the Director representing the Contracting

Municipalities shall be deemed approval of the budget. Failure by the legislative

body of a Member or the Director representing the Contracting Municipalities to act

to approve or disapprove the budget within the 30 day period referenced in (c)(2),

above, shall likewise be deemed approval of the budget.

(5) If the annual budget for any fiscal year is for any reason not approved as of the

beginning of that fiscal year, the District shall implement a budget, and levy

assessments according to Section 17, whereby the expenses, net of member

assessments, do not exceed those for the immediately preceding fiscal year until a

new budget is approved.

(6) Notwithstanding any disapproval of the proposed budget by failure to obtain a

majority of affirmative votes from the legislative bodies of the Members and the

Director representing Contracting Municipalities, the Authority shall be obligated

to pay the principal of and interest on bonds, notes, and other evidence of

indebtedness of the District and to satisfy any other obligations relating thereto and

to pay obligations under any long-term contracts. To the extent provided by the

terms of such bonds, notes, or other evidence of indebtedness, or long-term

contracts, each member municipality shall be obligated to pay its share of such

indebtedness and obligations under long-term contracts, but only after CCPSA first

uses all undesignated fund balances to satisfy such indebtedness and obligations.

Unless otherwise provided in a cost sharing formula ratified by all Members, a

municipality's share of indebtedness shall be determined by the Board and shall be

in an amount proportionate to the actual or estimated calls for service generated by

that municipality as determined by the Board.

(d) Budget adoption, appropriations, and assessment.

(1) Annually on or before the third Monday in December, the Board shall vote to

adopt the budget approved by majority vote of the member legislative bodies and

the Contracting Municipalities Director. Prior to such vote, the Board shall have

authority to amend the budget on its own motion or in response to a written

statement of objections filed pursuant to subsection (c)(4), above.



11

(1) Once a budget is adopted, the Board shall notify the Members within 15 days

and assess each member for its share of the sums so appropriated, less revenues

anticipated from the Members and other sources, and adopt a schedule designating

when such assessments are due and payable by the Members.

(2) The Members shall include the Authority's assessment as a separate line item

on their annual budgets so as to disclose each Member’s financial contribution to

the Authority.

(3) After adoption of the budget for the ensuing fiscal year, the Authority shall

deliver to each Member an invoice for its share of the net cost of operating the

Authority, with payments due on September 1 and November 1 of each year.

17. Cost-sharing formula.

(a) The Authority shall have a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) that defines

cost-sharing among member municipalities. The MOU is attached to and made a

part of this Agreement as Appendix A.

(b) Following the creation of CCPSA, the MOU shall be signed by the chair of the

legislative body for each Member (hereafter referred to as “ratification”) following

approval by the legislative body, prior to that Member receiving service.

(c) If a Member does not ratify the cost sharing formula at its initial opportunity,

that member shall not receive services from the Authority, nor shall Section 20

apply to the Member, until such time as that Member ratifies the MOU as described

above.

(d) If a Member does not ratify the MOU within 24 months of request by the

Authority, the Member shall lose voting rights on the Board, until such time as it

ratifies the MOU; if a Member does not ratify the MOU within four years of voting

to become a member, the Member shall cease to be a Member and shall be required

to rejoin the Authority under sections 22(b) and 22(c).

(e) A process for amending the MOU shall be defined in the MOU.

18. Non Payment or Disputes.

(a) Non Payment

(1) If any Member shall fail to pay when due any assessment against it by the

Authority, it shall incur, as a penalty, such additional charge as the Board



12

determines to be reasonable. The Board may adopt a schedule of charges that

includes penalty assessments for non-payment. However, no such charge shall

exceed five percent of any unpaid assessment plus interest. Interest shall be

charged at a rate equal to one percent per month or fraction thereof, for the first

three months, and thereafter one and one-half percent per month or fraction

thereof, from the due date of the assessment.

(2) Payment in arrears over 60 days shall be grounds for suspension or termination

of service to a Member. Prior to suspending or terminating service, the Authority

shall provide a delinquent Member at least 30 days advanced written notice, via

certified mail.

(b) Disputes

(1) As further described below, disputes between Members and CCPSA shall be

settled by way of the following process and in the following order of precedence: a)

the Public Safety Communications Director; b) the CCPSA Board; c) negotiation, d)

mediation; and e) arbitration.

(2) Should a Member dispute its assessment, it shall pay its assessed amount as

outlined in this Agreement and in Appendix A. Any changes in the assessment

made as a result of settlement of the dispute shall be remedied by including funding

necessary for reimbursement in the next budget process, subject to the timeline

described in Section 16, above.

(3) All claims or disputes arising out of or related to this Agreement or any

assessment or action of the Authority or any action of a Member or its Director shall

first be referred to the Public Safety Communications Director for resolution. Any

decision or action of the Public Safety Communications Director may be appealed by

the aggrieved party to the Board, by written notice of appeal filed with the Director

within 30 days of the date of decision. Failure to appeal a decision of the Public

Safety Communications Director within 30 days of the date of decision shall render

the Director’s decision final and binding.

(4) In the event of a timely appeal to the Board, applicable provisions of the

Municipal Administrative Procedures Act, 24 V.S.A., Chapter 36, for the conduct of

a contested hearing, shall apply. Appeals from a final decision of the Board shall be

taken by written notice of appeal filed with the Board within 30 days of the date

that a final decision is rendered. Such appeals shall proceed as provided in

subsection (b)(5), below. Failure to appeal a decision of the Board within 30 days of

the date of decision shall render the Board’s decision final and binding.



13

(5) In the event of a timely appeal from a final decision of the Board, the parties

involved in the dispute, which may include the Board or its representative, shall

first negotiate in good faith in an effort to resolve their differences. Should

negotiations fail, any party may give notice to the other party (or parties) of intent

to require mediation. The claim or dispute shall thereafter be mediated within sixty

(60) days of said notice using such mediation procedures as the parties may agree

upon. Should mediation fail, the dispute shall be decided by binding arbitration,

held in Chittenden County, Vermont, by a single arbitrator to be mutually

determined by the parties. In the event that the parties are unable to agree on an

arbitrator, then each party shall select a single arbitrator and together those two

arbitrators shall select a third arbitrator, who together shall constitute an

arbitration panel to hear and decide the matter in dispute. The Vermont

Arbitration Act, 12 V.S.A., Chapter 192, shall apply to any arbitration between the

parties. Should any claim or dispute be resolved through arbitration, the arbitrator

shall have discretion to award the substantially prevailing party, in addition to any

other remedy, recovery of its costs and fees, including reasonable attorney fees, to

be paid by the non-prevailing party or parties.

19. Limitations of appropriations.

(a) Appropriations made by the Board through the budget process, as defined in

section 16 of this Agreement shall be expended only for funding allocated for items

outlined in the budget; however, by majority vote of Directors, the budget may be

amended from time to time to transfer funds between or among such budget items.

(b) The amount of any deficit at the end of each fiscal year shall be included in the

next proposed operating budget and paid out of the appropriations for that budget

year. Any unencumbered balance may be placed in a designated fund balance,

reserve fund, used for cash flow to avoid short term borrowing and cover expected

operating expenses (to the extent they are anticipated to be incurred and paid prior

to payments received from municipal Members), or returned to the Members, at the

exclusive option and discretion of the Board.

20. Assessment.

(a) The cost of debt service or of payments under a long-term contract shall be

included in the annual budget of the Authority, and shall be allocated among the

Members as provided in section 17 of this Agreement for the calculation of the

annual budget assessment.



14

(b) The applicable provisions of 24 V.S.A. chapter 53 (indebtedness) or other

enabling law under which debt is incurred or long-term contracts authorized shall

apply to the issuance of bonds or other evidence of indebtedness by the Authority

and for that purpose the Authority shall be deemed a "municipal corporation," the

Board shall be deemed a "legislative branch," and the Treasurer shall be deemed a

"municipal treasurer" within the meaning of that chapter.

(c) Bonds or other evidence of indebtedness and long-term capital contracts shall be

signed by the Treasurer and Chair of the Board.

21. Withdrawal of a municipality.

(a) Withdrawal prior to bonding by the Authority

Subject to the provisions of subsection (a)(1) of this section and the requirements of

24 V.S.A. § 4863, a Member may vote to withdraw from this Agreement in the same

manner as it votes to adopt the Agreement if one year has elapsed since the

Authority has become a body politic and corporate and the Authority has not voted

to bond or otherwise borrow for construction and improvements.

(1) The “financial obligations” of a withdrawing Member, as used in 24 V.S.A. §

4863, shall include a proportionate share of all ongoing costs and assessments of the

Authority, including all costs arising under long term contracts, until the

withdrawing Member has entered into a written agreement satisfactory to the

Authority Board, and in a form acceptable to the Authority’s counsel, that at a

minimum obligates the withdrawing Member as follows:

(i) to pay its budgeted assessment for the first full fiscal year following the vote of

withdrawal;

(ii) to pay its proportionate share, based upon its assessment for the next full fiscal

year following its withdrawal vote, of the defense costs and any money damages

judgment rendered in legal action brought against the Authority arising or accruing

in any year during which it was a Member of the Authority, to the extent that those

costs and damages are not otherwise covered by insurance or liability

indemnification;

(iii) to pay its share, based upon its assessment for the next full fiscal year following

its withdrawal, of all unbudgeted costs and expenses of the Authority arising out of

the activities of the Authority during the withdrawing Member's term of

Membership which have not been otherwise allocated to the Member through the



15

budgeting and assessment process, regardless of when such costs and expenses may

be discovered; and

(iv) to pay all of these additional costs in installments at such times and in such

amounts as required by the Board or, at the option of the withdrawing Member, in a

lump sum.

(2) Nothing herein shall be construed to limit the authority of the CCPSA and the

withdrawing Member to enter into an agreement containing such other terms and

conditions for the settlement of the withdrawing Member’s financial obligations as

are otherwise reasonable and consistent with law.

(b) Withdrawal after bonding by the Authority.

(1) As provided in 24 V.S.A. § 4863, Members are prohibited from voting to

withdraw from the Authority after the Authority has voted to bond for construction

and improvements. Notwithstanding this prohibition, Members may vote to

“Withdraw from Receiving Service” from CCPSA following a bond vote. A Member

that affirmatively votes to Withdraw from Receiving Service shall enter into a

written agreement consistent with subsection 21(a)(1)(i)-(iv) and, additionally, such

Member shall:

(i) continue to pay its share of all debts incurred by the Authority for the

remaining terms of all bonds and capital contracts in existence at the time when the

vote to withdraw was taken (although its share of debt or capital contract costs

may be paid in a lump sum at the request of the Member);

(ii) lose voting rights on the Board immediately following the approved vote of

Withdrawal from Receiving Service; and

(iii) cease to be responsible for liabilities or responsibilities related to operations

after completion of the steps outlined under subsection 21(a).

(2 ) After all requirements under subsections 21(a) and 21(b)(1) have been satisfied,

the Member that has authorized and obtained an approved Withdrawal from

Receiving Service vote shall have to no further obligations to the Authority.

22. Admission of municipalities.

(a) Provided their respective legislative bodies approve this Agreement and vote to

warn an annual or special meeting to enter into an agreement for the formation of

the Authority, the municipalities of Burlington, Colchester, Essex, Milton,



16

Shelburne, South Burlington, Williston and Winooski shall hold citizen votes on

initial Membership on Town Meeting Day 2018. Membership shall be determined

by a majority of voters in each municipality. The Authority shall be created if and

only if voters in three (3) or more of these municipalities approve Membership.

After this initial opportunity, new Members shall only be admitted through the

process outlined in section (b) below.

(b) The Board, following the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the Member

legislative bodies, may authorize the inclusion of additional Member municipalities

in the Authority upon such terms and conditions as it shall deem to be fair,

reasonable, and in the best interests of the Authority, and additionally subject to

the ratification of the MOU as outlined in Section 17.

(c) Any Board-authorized additional Member municipality shall comply thereafter

with the approval procedures specified in 24 V.S.A., Chapter 121, as applicable. If a

majority of the Directors of the Board authorize an additional Member municipality,

and those voters present and voting at a duly warned meeting of such municipality

vote to approve this Agreement and the terms and conditions for admission, the

Secretary of the Authority shall confirm the result of the vote with the clerk of that

municipality, by receipt of certification or other appropriate means, and thereafter

the municipality shall be a Member.

23. Dissolution of the Authority.

(a)(1) Upon the affirmative vote of Directors representing at least two-thirds of all

votes entitled to be cast on behalf of all Members and comprising at least two-thirds

of the Directors present, the Board may prepare a plan of dissolution for submission

to the voters of the municipal Members of the Authority at meetings of the

municipal Members of the Authority duly warned for such purposes.

(2) If a majority of the municipal Members of the Authority, authorized by the

actions of the voters of municipal Members of the Authority, vote to dissolve the

Authority, the Authority shall cease to conduct its affairs except insofar as may be

necessary to complete a plan of dissolution and to conclude its affairs.

(3) The Board of Directors shall cause a notice of the plan of dissolution to be mailed

to each known creditor of the Authority and to the Secretary of State.

(b) The plan of dissolution shall be developed using the process outlined in section

21 of this Agreement, and in Appendix A, to the maximum extent feasible and at a

minimum shall:



17

(1) identify and value all assets of the Authority;

(2) identify all liabilities of the Authority, including contract obligation;

(3) determine how the assets of the Authority shall be liquidated and how the

liabilities and obligations of the Authority shall be paid, to include assessments

against municipalities of the Authority; and

(4) specify that any assets remaining after payment of all liabilities shall be

apportioned and distributed among the Members according to the same basic

formula used in apportioning the costs of the Authority to the Members.

(c) When the plan of dissolution has been fully implemented, the Board shall certify

that fact to the Members whereupon this Agreement and the Authority shall be

terminated.

24. Amendment of the Authority Agreement.

(a) This Agreement may be amended in whole or in part. Any proposed amendment

shall first be adopted upon the affirmative vote of Directors representing at least

two-thirds of all votes entitled to be cast on behalf of all Directors. Any meeting for

the consideration of an amendment shall be warned by the delivery to each

Director, at least fifteen (15) days prior to the date of the meeting, of a notice

stating the time, place and date of such meeting and including a full text of the

proposed amendment or amendments.

(b) If such a proposed amendment is adopted by the Board, it shall then be

submitted to the legislative bodies of all of the Members. Such proposed amendment

shall become effective upon its adoption by a majority of the legislative bodies of the

Members. Member legislative bodies that do not vote on a proposed amendment

within sixty (60) days from receipt of the amendment from the Authority shall be

deemed to have approved the amendment.

(c) No amendment shall substantially impair the rights of the holders of any bonds,

notes or other evidence of indebtedness or substantially affect any obligations under

long-term contracts of the Authority then outstanding or in effect, or the rights of

the Authority to procure the means for payment, continuation, or termination of

such contracts.

















Appendix A to Agreement to Create the Chittenden County Public Safety Authority  

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING (MOU) ON COST SHARING  

A. Introduction. 
 This Memorandum of Understanding (MOU), appended to the Agreement to Create the 
Chittenden County Public Safety Authority as Appendix A, describes the agreed cost-
sharing mechanism among Members. Each Member shall separately ratify this MOU as a 
condition of receiving dispatch and other services from the Chittenden County Public Safety 
Authority (the “CCPSA”).  Terms used in this MOU shall have the same meaning 
attributed to them in the Agreement. 

B. Initial Contributions.  There is an Initial Contributions Phase which shall commence 
upon the effective date of the Agreement and continue until all Members have received 
dispatch service from CCPSA for two (2) full fiscal years. During the Initial 
Contribution Phase: 
 
(1) Member communities shall contribute those financial resources budgeted by their 

communities to provide dispatch operations, plus any additional funds a Member is 
willing to contribute for the benefit of CCPSA.   
 

(2) Since not all Members presently have separate and distinct dispatch budgets, the 
CCPSA budget during this Initial Contribution Phase shall be substantially 
comprised of discretionary contributions by Members. For Fiscal year, 2015-2016, 
these costs have been developed, agreed to and disclosed as Direct Costs of Dispatch 
by members of the Joint Survey Committee for the Chittenden County Public Safety 
Authority, on behalf of their member communities.  
 

(3) The Members anticipate that during this Initial Contribution Phase the CCPSA 
budget will grow annually at the approximate rate of dispatch budget growth in the 
Member municipalities.     

 
(4) It is further anticipated that for up to the first two years in which dispatch services 

are provided by CCPSA, costs will be funded from already approved municipal 
budgets.   
 
If all Members have not received service for two full years after the initial two year 
period of CCPSA dispatch service operations, subsequent initial funding shall be 
budgeted by the CCPSA Board in a manner such that any increase in a Member’s 
initial contribution in comparison to its current dispatch budget will be 
approximately equal to the average increase in Member municipal dispatch budgets 
generally. Any percentage increase shall be applied equally to all Members during 
the extended initial funding period.   

Appendix A Page 1



 
(5) Any deficits that accrue during the Initial Contributions Phase prior to the 

implementation of the Long Term Contributions shall be equitably apportioned 
among those Members to which CCPSA provided dispatch services during the Initial 
Contributions Phase.  
 

C. Long Term Contributions. 
 

1) Contribution Formula 
After the Initial Contributions Phase (i.e., when all Members have received dispatch service 
from CCPSA for two (2) full fiscal years), the Long Term Contributions formula set forth 
below shall commence and continue unless and until modified by the Board.   

(a) Step 1: Following the first one (1) full fiscal year in which all Members have received 
dispatch service from CCPSA, determine net costs of the CCPSA, aggregating all 
CCPSA operating expenses, capital expenses, capital reserve contributions, grant 
revenues, public safety answering point (PSAP) revenues, contract revenues, excess 
initial contribution repayments and any CCPSA deficits or liabilities. 
 

(b) Step 2: Determine the three-year rolling average of calls for service in each Member 
community (regardless of whether the Member received service from CCPSA during 
that period) expressed as a percentage: 

i. “Calls for service” in member communities shall be defined as: Calls for any 
emergency service agency (including non-municipal agencies serving the 
community) in a community including police, fire, and rescue services. Calls for 
service shall be counted per agency responding, and not per incident, shall 
include agencies responding to mutual aid calls, and shall include any call that 
causes a public safety employee to take an action or expend agency resources, 
whether agency-initiated or citizen-initiated.   
ii. To avoid a charge back through the County tax, the Chittenden County 
Sheriff’s Department shall not pay for calls.   

 
(c) Step 3: Apportion Step 1 net costs based on Step 2 percentages, as defined above.   

For example: If the CCPSA’s net cost for a fiscal year after the Initial Contributions Phase 
is $3.1M and the three-year rolling average of calls totals 143,652, and the Town of 
Colchester has 16,373 average annual calls for service during the same time period, 
Colchester’s proportional share of the net costs would be 11.4%, or $353,328. 

2) Reimbursement for Excess Initial Contributions 
Member communities that provide contributions   toward startup and operating expenses 
beyond their base Initial Contributions (i.e., “excess initial contributions”), shall be entitled 
to reimbursement from those communities that did not make Excess Initial Contributions.  
Such reimbursement may occur over a five to ten year period, based on an individual 

Appendix A Page 2



Member community’s contributions and all Members’ shares, utilizing the steps described 
below.  

(a) Step 1: Determine aggregate Excess Initial Contributions of all Members.   
(1)Excess Initial Capital Contributions may include contributions of “capital 
equipment.” 

i. Capital equipment shall include, but is not limited to, the following:  
Computer aided dispatch software purchase and license fees, including 
alteration thereof to serve more than one member of regional dispatch in 
linking to 911; GIS; law enforcement records management; fire records 
management; station alerting; NCIC/VCIC and related databases; voice 
logging and recording systems; facility improvements; electrical, telecom 
or IT wiring; telecom equipment; furniture; servers and IT network 
infrastructure; radio equipment; PSAP equipment, including design or 
engineering costs related to any of the above.  

ii. To qualify for reimbursement under this section, the contributed capital 
equipment must have had more than a one year useful lifespan or a value 
greater than $5,000 at the time of purchase.  Multiple single items 
contributed contemporaneously must have an aggregate value of more than 
$5,000.   
iii. Capital equipment contributions must have been made and the equipment 
must be in use by regional dispatch before long term funding contributions by 
Members are required. 
iv. Capital equipment purchased prior to July 1, 2017 shall not be eligible for 
contribution.  All equipment purchased prior to such date which is usable and 
desired by CCPSA shall be contributed as a part of local dispatch transition 
at no charge or cost to CCPSA.   

(2) Qualifying excess contributions are contributions that exceed (1) the municipally 
budgeted operating costs or (2) assessments paid by the Member municipality as 
Initial Contributions.  Such contributions may include, but are not limited to, 
funding earmarked for new CCPSA dispatch resources such as managers, 
trainers, an executive director, or IT staff or for specific operating costs such as 
rent, utilities, consulting and other related costs and fees.    
 

(3) Credit for making Excess Initial Contributions must be requested by the 
contributing Member within 90 days of the creation of CCPSA (if the 
contribution was made prior to the creation of CCPSA) or within the 60 days 
prior to the contribution, if it is made after the expenditure and following the 
creation of CCPSA.  CCPSA’s Board shall consider such requests and provide 
written notice to the contributing Member regarding eligibility for 
reimbursement under this subsection within 60 days of such notice.  In the event 

Appendix A Page 3



that a Member is aggrieved by a determination of the CCPSA Board regarding 
the eligibility of a contribution for reimbursement, the aggrieved Member may 
appeal to the Board within 30 days of the date of such notice.  If an appeal is 
submitted, the Board shall hold a hearing on the appeal as provided in the 
Agreement.     
 

(b) Step 2: Allocate the aggregate Excess Initial Contributions among all Members based on 
a three year rolling average of call percentages to determine the first year’s net costs. 
 

(c) Step 3: Determine payback for, or contributions required to pay others back  for Excess 
Initial Contributions based on actual contributions of such resources, as designated and 
acknowledged by the CCPSA Board. 

 
(d) Step 4: Combine formula funding with payback of excess initial contributions to 

determine net funding, and determine payback period such that reimbursement occurs 
over the shortest possible time without triggering the “Smoothing Formula,” described 
below.  Reimbursement for Excess Initial Contributions shall be accomplished in ten 
years or less.  
 

3) Smoothing Formula 
Notwithstanding the above, if the Long Term Contribution formula, after accounting for 
reimbursement for Excess Initial Contributions, will increase any Member’s contribution 
requirement (including operating and capital expenses) by 5% or more in the first year such 
formula is employed, the Members agree: 

(a) The Long Term Contribution formula shall be implemented over a period not to 
exceed six years; the goal being to implement the formula in as short a period as 
possible, so that the impact of the formula on any single Member community 
will increase its contributions by no more than 4.9% annually. 
   

(b) This Smoothing Formula shall only apply to Member communities for which 
CCPSA was providing all dispatch services in the year before the formula is 
implemented. 

 
(c) For all eligible communities, the following steps shall apply. 

 
i. Step 1: Determine whether net funding plus reimbursement of Excess Initial 
Contributions for the upcoming fiscal year will cause any Member community’s 
budgeted contribution to increase by 5% or more. 

 
ii. Step 2: If any Member community would pay an increase of 5% or more in the 
first year of transition from Initial Contribution to Long Term Contribution, to 
the extent reasonably practicable and consistent with the limitations set forth 

Appendix A Page 4



above, the Long Term Contribution formula shall be adjusted  as needed to 
modify the year-over-year increase in budgeted contribution to no more than 
4.9%.  However, this Step shall not be implemented if it causes additional 
Member communities to incur an increase of more than 4.9%. 

 
iii. Step 3: When the Smoothing Formula may be implemented, calculate each 
affected Members’ adjusted funding obligations by: 

(a) Converting the increase in contribution to a dollar amount; 
(b) Determining the percentage of calls in all Member communities, 

excluding other Member communities subject to smoothing, by 
totaling calls in such communities. 

(c) Multiply the figure derived from (a) above by (b) above to determine 
the financial contribution of each non-smoothing Member community 
to the formula. 

(d) Add smoothing funding to net funding to obtain adjusted funding 
 

D. MOU Adoption and Amendment.  
 

(1) This MOU shall be approved by an affirmative vote of the majority of the CCPSA 
Board.   

(2) Each community wishing to be a Member shall, by action of its legislative body, 
ratify this MOU before the Member community may receive services from the 
CCPSA. 
 

(3) Following initial adoption and ratification, this MOU may be amended by an 
affirmative vote of the majority of the CCPSA board, subject to ratification by the 
legislative bodies of those Members who comprise said majority.  All amendments or 
modifications to this MOU shall be in writing.  

 

Appendix A Page 5







 

 

 

 
 
 

 

March 12, 2018 

 

Chittenden County Public Safety Authority 

Board of Directors 

 

Dear CCPSA Board Members, 

 

I wish to appoint Fire Chief Steven Locke to the Chittenden County Public Safety Authority (CCPSA) 

Board of Directors to represent the City of Burlington. 

 

Sincerely, 

 
Miro Weinberger 

Mayor 

 

Office of Mayor Miro Weinberger 

 

 



Vennont Laws 

VERMONT GENERAL ASSEMBLY 

The Vermont Statutes Online 
Title 12 : Court Procedure 

Chapter 211 : Oaths 

Subchapter 001 : Forms Of Oaths 

(Cite as: 12 V.S.A. § 5813) 

§ 5813. Oath to be administered to officials, committees, etc. 

The form of oath to be administered to persons appointed in pursuance of the 

provisions of law, to perform any duty or execute any office, commission, or trust 

whatever, where an oath is required, and a specific form is not provided, shall be 

as follows: 

You solemnly swear that you will faithfully execute the office (duty or trust) 

of .................... to the best of your judgment and abilities, according to law. So help 

you God. 

Or, when the person to be sworn produces to the magistrate a warrant of 

appointment, commission, or other certificate, the oath may be thus: 

You solemnly swear that you will faithfully execute the duties assigned you by 

this warrant (commission, rule, or other certificate of appointment,) ( as the case 

may be) to the best of your judgment and abilities, according to law. So help you 

God. 

https://legislature.vennont.gov/statutes/section/12/211 /05813 

Page I of I 

2/22/2018 

For those who are CEO of City or Town (Manager or Mayor when Mayor is CEO): 

I solemly swear that I will faithfully execute the duties of Director of the Chittenden County 
Public Safety Authority to the best of my judgement and abilities according to law. So help me 
God.

For those who are appointed by a CEO of City or Town (Manager or Mayor when Mayor is 
CEO): 

I solemly swear that I wil faithfully execute the duties of Director of the Chittenden County 
Public Safety Authority assigned to my by letter of appointment to the best of my judgement and 
abilities according to law. So help me God.

afrank
Line



 
 
 

Certificate of Election 
 

 
In accordance with Section 7(b) of its Charter, the Chittenden County Public Safety Authority 

Board of Directors do hereby certify that at its organizational meeting held on Wednesday, 

Aprils 18, 2018, ____________________ was elected as its Chair and 

_______________________ was elected as its Vice Chair. 

 
Dated this 18th day of April, 2018 
 

CCPSA Board of Directors 
 

__________________________  __________________________ 
Steven Locke, Burlington Kevin Dorn, South Burlington 

  
__________________________ __________________________ 
Aaron Frank, Colchester Richard McGuire, Williston 
  
__________________________ __________________________ 
Darren Adams, Milton Jessie Baker, Winooski 

 
 



 

CHITTENDEN COUNTY                                              
PUBLIC SAFETY AUTHORITY 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
RULES OF TRANSACTION 

 

 
Adopted: April 18, 2018 
 
 

CCPSA Board of Directors 
 

__________________________  __________________________ 
Steven Locke, Burlington Kevin Dorn, South Burlington 

  
__________________________ __________________________ 
Aaron Frank, Colchester Richard McGuire, Williston 
  
__________________________ __________________________ 
Darren Adams, Milton Jessie Baker, Winooski 

 
 

Chittenden County Public Safety Authority 
781 Blakely Rd 

Colchester, VT 05446  
 
 

 
 
 

Abstract: 
The CCPSA Rules of Transaction is a policy approved by the its Board of Directors usually at 
their organizational meeting in April annually.  The Rules outline basic operational 
procedures for the Board. 



CCPSA Rules of Transaction – 2018-2019 1 | P a g e  
 

Chittenden County Public Safety Authority 
Board of Directors Rules of Transaction 

Table of Contents 
1. GENERAL .................................................................................................................................. 2 

2. RULES OF ORDER ..................................................................................................................... 2 

3. ELECTION / APPOINTMENT OF OFFICERS ................................................................................ 2 

4. DUTIES OF OFFICERS ................................................................................................................ 3 

5. CCPSA BOARD MEETINGS – PUBLIC ACCESS ........................................................................... 3 

6. QUORUMS AND VOTING ......................................................................................................... 5 

7. VOTING .................................................................................................................................... 6 

8. COMMITTEES ........................................................................................................................... 6 

9. RESOLUTIONS AND MOTIONS ................................................................................................. 6 

10. SPECIAL CCPSA BOARD MEETINGS ...................................................................................... 6 

11. CCPSA DIRECTOR OF COMMUNICATIONS ........................................................................... 7 

12. PUBLIC HEARING NOTICES ................................................................................................... 7 

13. EXAMINING AND ALLOWING CLAIMS .................................................................................. 7 

14. RULE AMENDMENTS ............................................................................................................ 7 

 
Definitions: 
 
• Members are municipalities that have joined through an affirmative vote of the voters 
• Directors sit on the Board and represent the interests of municipalities  
• The CCPSA (the Authority) is the union municipal district itself  
• The CCPSA Board is the governing body and policy setting entity of the union municipal 

district (the Authority) 
 
 
  



CCPSA Rules of Transaction – 2018-2019 2 | P a g e  
 

Chittenden County Public Safety Authority 
Board of Directors Rules of Transaction 

1. GENERAL 
 

On the first Wednesday in April, or on such other date in April as is duly noticed to Member 
Municipalities by posting at the Members’ municipal offices at least seven (7) calendar days 
in advance, the Board of Directors of the Chittenden County Public Safety Authority 
(hereafter “the CCPSA” or “the Authority”) shall hold its organizational meeting at a time 
and place designated by the Board Chair. The aforementioned notice and posting 
requirements shall be in addition to any other requirements set forth in the Vermont Open 
Meeting Law. The Rules that follow are intended to serve as the rules of transaction until 
the organizational meeting is held the following year. References are made in these Rules to 
provisions included in the Agreement to Create the Chittenden County Public Safety 
Authority (hereafter “the Agreement”).  
 
Generally, the Authority will be represented by Stitzel Page and Fletcher, PC; for Labor and 
Employment Law by Paul Frank + Collins, PC.; and other attorneys will be retained as 
approved by the Board as appropriate given the expertise required. 

2. RULES OF ORDER 
 

The Chair shall rule on all questions of order or procedure and shall enforce these rules as 
required by 1 V.S.A. § 312(h) and be guided by Robert Rules of Order. 

3. ELECTION / APPOINTMENT OF OFFICERS 
 
The roles are defined as Chair / Vice-Chair of the CCPSA Board and Secretary/Treasurer of the 
Authority. Parallel to a town government structure - the Secretary/Treasurer serves the overall 
operation of the municipality akin to the Town Clerk/Treasurer. There is not a Clerk position for 
the Board itself. 
 

3.1. Procedures for electing officers are as follows as provided for in the Agreement 
(Section 7 (b)): At the organizational meeting, the Board shall elect from among its 
Membership a Chair and a Vice Chair each of whom shall hold office for one year or 
until a successor is duly elected and qualified.  
 

3.2. No Director shall be elected Chair for more than three consecutive terms unless he or 
she receives the affirmative vote of at least a majority of the Directors of the Board 
plus at least one additional member.  

 



CCPSA Rules of Transaction – 2018-2019 3 | P a g e  
 

3.3. The Secretary and Treasurer of the Authority shall be appointed by the Board and may 
be a Director. The Secretary and Treasurer, with the approval of the Board, may each 
appoint an assistant, who shall not be a Director. The Secretary or the Board may 
withdraw any appointment to the position of assistant secretary at any time. The 
Treasurer or the Board may withdraw any appointment to the position of assistant 
treasurer at any time.    

4. DUTIES OF OFFICERS 
 

4.1. The Chair of the Board shall have the same duties and authority as the chair of a 
municipal legislative body under Vermont law. In the Chair’s absence, the Vice Chair 
shall fulfill the duties and responsibility of, and have the same authority as, the Chair.  
 

4.2. The Secretary and Treasurer shall serve at the Board’s pleasure and shall perform all of 
the duties and functions described in the Agreement.  

5. CCPSA BOARD MEETINGS – PUBLIC ACCESS  
 

5.1. Definition - A meeting is generally defined as any gathering of a majority of CCPSA 
Directors members where CCPSA business is discussed.  Social gatherings become 
meetings if CCPSA business is discussed by a majority of the CCPSA Directors. 

 
5.2. Meeting Location - All meetings of the CCPSA Board of Directors shall be held at the 

Colchester Town Hall (781 Blakely Road, Colchester, Vermont, in the Outer Bay 
Conference Room on the 3rd Floor) unless otherwise specified.  In all cases, meeting 
places must be designed to include members of the public.   

 
5.3. Meeting Schedule - In general the CCPSA Board of Directors will meet on the fourth 

Monday of the month at 8 AM, and other dates and times as appropriate.  Regular 
meetings and starting times may be subject to change as determined by the CCPSA 
Board of Directors.  In addition, special meetings may be called, also as determined by 
the CCPSA Board of Directors. (1 V.S.A. § 312 (c)(1)) Meetings for the next year are as 
outlined  below: 

 
 2018 

Wednesday April 18, 7:30-9:00AM (already scheduled) 
Wednesday May 16th 8:00-9:30AM (already scheduled) 
Monday June 25th 8:00-9:30AM 
Monday July 23rd 8:00-9:30AM 
Monday August 27th 8:00-9:30AM 
Monday September 24th 8:00-9:30AM 
Monday October 22nd 8:00-9:30AM 



CCPSA Rules of Transaction – 2018-2019 4 | P a g e  
 

Monday November 26th 8:00-9:30AM 
Monday December 17th 8:00-9:30AM (holiday exception) 

 
 
 2019 

Monday January 28th 8:00-9:30AM 
Monday February 25th 8:00-9:30AM 
Monday March 25th 8:00-9:30AM 
Monday April 29th 8:00-9:30AM (school break exception) 

 
5.4. Agendas - Each CCPSA Board meeting shall have an agenda.  Directors who wish an 

issue to be added to the agenda shall notify the Chair.  The Chair shall determine the 
final content of the agenda. 

 
5.5. Posting of Agenda - At least 48 hours prior to a regular meeting, and at least 24 hours 

prior to a special meeting, a meeting agenda shall be posted in or near the municipal 
office of each member municipality and on the Authority website. The Authority will 
utilize the website of the Chittenden County Regional Planning Commission, Dispatch 
Page, as if it were its own, for the purpose of posting agendas and minutes 
https://www.ccrpcvt.org/our-work/emergency-management/regional-dispatch/.  The 
agenda must also be made available to any person who requests such agenda prior to 
the meeting. 

 
5.6. Open to Public - All meetings of the CCPSA Board of Directors and of any committees 

thereof shall be open to the public, except as provided for in State law.  Meeting 
agendas shall be posted in accordance with state law.  

 
5.7. Accessibility - The CCPSA will comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act and make 

every reasonable effort to accommodate all individuals interested in participating in 
meetings. 

 
5.8. Access to Public Records. Public records include any communication, regardless of 

form, relating to the conduct of agency business (1 V.S.A. § 316). Records will be 
stored at the municipal office of the Secretary of the Authority. Records should be 
made available for public inspection and copying during normal office hours.  

 
5.9. Electronic Mail – Communications between Directors regarding the CCPSA using 

electronic mail (email) could be subject to discovery as part of a lawsuit.  A discussion 
of issues related to CCPSA using email as a forum among a quorum of the CCPSA Board 
can be considered as an unscheduled and unwarned meeting of the CCPSA Board of 
Directors. 

 
5.10. Public Comment - There shall be reserved a period during each regular and special 

meeting of the CCPSA Board of Directors for public comment on any issue.  This time 

https://www.ccrpcvt.org/our-work/emergency-management/regional-dispatch/


CCPSA Rules of Transaction – 2018-2019 5 | P a g e  
 

and comment period may be subject to reasonable rules of the Chair including, but not 
limited to: 

• Comment by the public or members of the body must be addressed to the 
chair or to the body as a whole, and not to any individual member of the body 
or public. 

• Members of the public must be acknowledged by the chair before speaking. 
• If a member of the public has already spoken on a topic, he or she may not be 

recognized again until others have first been given the opportunity to 
comment. 

• Public comment must be allowed prior to the CCPSA Board of Directors taking 
action. 

• Opportunities to express one’s opinion outside of the “Comment Period” may 
be permitted during the meeting but reasonable limits may be placed by the 
Chair on the duration and frequency of participation. (1 V.S.A. § 312 (h)) 

 
5.11. Minutes – Minutes must contain a list of Directors present; list of all active 

participants; all motions, proposals, and resolutions made, and what action taken or 
disposition was made; and the results of any votes, with a record of individual votes.  
(1 V.S.A. §312 (b)(1) 

6. QUORUMS AND VOTING 
 
6.1. There are six (6) members presently on the CCPSA Board of Directors.  At all meetings 

of the Board, four Directors, who are present and eligible to vote, shall constitute a 
quorum for the transaction of business. A vote of four Directors is always required to 
take binding action. 

 
6.2. A CCPSA Director need not withdraw from deliberations and action if his or her private 

interest is common to numerous persons in the county.  In the event that a 
disqualified Director is the Chair of the Board, the Vice-Chair shall preside over 
deliberations and actions in question.  If the Vice-Chair is also disqualified, a majority 
of the remaining CCPSA Directors shall designate a temporary chair to preside during 
meetings and actions on the matter in question. 

 
6.3. Any person who perceives a conflict of interest should so indicate to the CCPSA Board 

of Directors in writing or on the record at a public meeting. 
 
6.4. Directors are encouraged to state their reasons for a vote before the vote is made.  

After a vote the decision of the Authority is the vote of the majority of the Board.   
 

6.5. Any CCPSA Director shall have the right to express dissent from or protest against any 
motion or resolution of the CCPSA Board of Directors at the time it is made and if 
requested, may have the reason therefore entered in the minutes. 



CCPSA Rules of Transaction – 2018-2019 6 | P a g e  
 

 
6.6. CCPSA Directors are strongly encouraged to respect decisions of the Board in the 

public and political arena.  The Board Chair, Vice-Chair, or other designee should 
represent the decision of the Board as needed to the public and media.  

7. VOTING 
 

7.1. The votes during all meetings of the CCPSA Board of Directors shall be transacted as 
follows: Unless otherwise provided for by statute, ordinance, or resolution, all votes 
shall be taken by voice, except that at the request of any CCPSA Director, the Chair 
shall take a roll call vote.  The Chair shall determine the roll call vote order. 

 
7.2. CCPSA Board votes must be taken in warned, open meetings.   
 
7.3. Motions shall be made in the affirmative whenever possible. 

8. COMMITTEES 
 

8.1. Per the Agreement (Section 14) the Board shall have the authority to establish any and 
all committees as it may deem necessary, including committees with membership 
other than Directors. The Board shall establish an advisory committee comprised of the 
public safety chiefs or their designees from member municipalities. The Board shall 
define the mission, term, authority, and appointment process for any committee prior 
to its establishment. 

9. RESOLUTIONS AND MOTIONS 
 

9.1. Resolutions - An enacted resolution is a non-binding statement.  
 
9.2. Motions - An enacted motion is a form of action taken by the CCPSA Board of Directors 

to direct that a specific action be taken. 
 
9.3. Policies – An enacted policy is a binding statement on an issue and may include specific 

procedures to be followed by staff or members of committees. 

10.  SPECIAL CCPSA BOARD MEETINGS 
 

10.1. The Chair or any four members of the CCPSA Board of Directors may call a special 
meeting. 

 



CCPSA Rules of Transaction – 2018-2019 7 | P a g e  
 

10.2. Notice of the special meeting shall be prepared in writing by the Secretary of the 
Authority. The notice shall contain the following information about the meeting: time, 
place, and business to be transacted. 

 
10.3. The only action that may be taken at a special meeting is that which is announced in 

the notice or agenda for the meeting. 

11.  DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC SAFETY COMMUNICATIONS 
 

The Board may appoint a Public Safety Communications Director who shall have the 
authority to employ other personnel as necessary for the conduct of the business of the 
Authority. The Public Safety Communications Director shall serve at the Board’s pleasure 
and subject to such rules, policies and requirements as the Board may establish. 

12.  PUBLIC HEARING NOTICES 
 

Public Hearings shall be duly warned in Seven Days or the Burlington Free Press.  (17 V.S.A. 
§ 2641 (b)) 

13.  EXAMINING AND ALLOWING CLAIMS 
 

13.1. The Treasurer of the Authority is charged with the responsibility of examining and 
allowing claims against the Authority for Authority expenses and shall draw orders for 
such claims to the party entitled to payment per the Agreement (Section 11(a)). 

 
13.2. The Treasurer shall report to the Board on each review at the next meeting of the 

Board, including the total amount of each warrant approved with individual vendor 
payments, and notations of any payments not approved. 

 
13.3. The Treasurer shall have the custody of the funds of the Authority and shall be the 

disbursing officer of the Authority. The Treasurer or assistant treasurer shall sign, 
make, or endorse in the name of the Authority all checks and orders for the payment 
of monies and pay out and disburse the same per the Agreement (Section 11(b)).  

14.  RULE AMENDMENTS 
 

These rules may be amended by a majority vote of the CCPSA Board of Directors and should 
be readopted annually at the organizational meeting. 

 
Adopted by the Board on April 18, 2018 



TO:    Rick McGuire 
FROM: Jennifer Kennelly 
SUBJECT:   CCPSA Insurance Recommendation       
DATE:   March 15, 2018 
 
 
The towns of Williston, Colchester, South Burlington, Burlington, Winooski and Milton voted to 
create the Chittenden County Public Safety Authority on March 6, 2018.  At this time, the newly 
formed municipality will have a six-member Board of Directors and no direct employees. 
 
In order to protect the Board of Directors from individual liability, it is recommended that insurance 
be purchased for the CCPSA.  We explored two options for insurance VLCT PACIF and Hickok 
and Boardman. 
 
Without completing an application for a formal quote, Hickok and Boardman Insurance Company 
was only able to give a general guideline.  This general estimate was between $750 to $1,500 for a 
one-year term.  There are no other organization fees and no additional municipal support services 
are offered through this insurance company. 
 
The VLCT PACIF provided a quote for minimum coverage of $1,000 plus membership fees.  In 
order to purchase PACIF insurance from VLCT, membership is required.  Restricted Associate 
Membership is $540/year is the minimum membership required.  No additional benefits, beyond the 
ability to be part of the PACIF insurance pool, are offered for this membership.  The cost of 
Associate Membership is $835 annually.  This level of membership offers all of the benefits of 
regular membership, including the Municipal Center Assistance, with the exception of voting rights. 
 
Given the newly formed nature of the CCPSA and the multiple needs for municipal assistance over 
the next few months, it is recommended that the CCPSA become an Associate Member of the 
Vermont League of Cities and Towns and purchase the minimum coverage from the PACIF 
Insurance program.  The cost for this insurance and membership will be $1,835 for the year. 
 
 



  

 
 

Memo 
From the Office of the Town 
Manager 

To:        CCPSA Board 
From:   Aaron Frank, Colchester Deputy Town Manager/CFO      
Date:    April 16, 2018 
Re:      Recent Evolution of Regional Dispatch 

 
 

This memo provides information about the evolution of regional dispatch in the last five years as 
context for CCPSA Board decisions. 
 
A: Initially the effort focused on local & regional dispatch rather than a combined 
dispatch/public safety answering point (PSAP). The goal was to provide better service for similar 
cost and obtain full time, dedicated management/leadership of dispatch (there was no position in the 
County in local dispatch at the time). 
 
• 2013: Colchester determined that it would be beneficial to have an additional partner for dispatch 

services.  Colchester was providing dispatch for nine public safety agencies across two 
communities (including Milton) at the time and dispatching the second highest calls for service 
annually in Chittenden County.  Burlington is the highest calls for service and the Shelburne 
PSAP even with its nearly 40 contracts, dispatches fewer calls than Colchester.  
 

• 2014: Colchester, with permission from Milton, submitted a proposal to Winooski to provide their 
public safety dispatch services under contract.   Colchester and Winooski worked on this issue 
together diligently but ran out of time due Winooski budget and union contract timelines.  
 

• 2016: South Burlington and Burlington discussed providing dispatch services together and or 
regionally. 
 

• 2016: Colchester approached Essex to provide some or all of their dispatch services. Colchester 
and South Burlington discussed providing dispatch services together.   
 

• 2016 CCRPC facilitated discussions of the communities offering or concerned about dispatch 
services.  Prior studies were considered and it was determined that regional dispatch was 
possible and desirable.  Any future work would focus on implementation of regional dispatch vs. 
studying its value.  Memo to Selectboards/Councils/Trustees is here. 
 

• 2016 CCRPC issued an RFP on 7/26/16 and paid for by Burlington, Colchester, Essex, 
Hinesburg, Milton, Richmond, Shelburne, South Burlington, Williston, Richmond, and Winooski.  
The RFP did not mention PSAP.  Some proposals included information on PSAPs and some did 
not.  PSAP’s were not a deciding factor in awarding a contract. 
 

• 2017 DeltaWRX study focused on four benefits of consolidation:  
 
1) Staffing:  ending practice of having a single dispatcher at a single location providing 
redundancy in case of major emergency 
2) Mutual Aid: using computer aided dispatch would improve current process of multiple 
sequential phone calls to obtain mutual aid 
3) Fire/EMS oversight: providing logistical support for Fire/EMS calls 
4) Local dispatch and PSAP consolidation: reducing call times by combining dispatch with 
PSAP facility 
 

https://www.ccrpcvt.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Regional-Dispatch-Study-Memo.pdf


• 2017 DeltaWRX showed that operating a PSAP could both improve services and provide some
additional funding, through the state grant provided to local governments operating PSAPS.
Financial modeling for regional dispatch thereafter included ultimately becoming a PSAP.

B: Incremental Approach, incorporating a PSAP sometime after initial operations: Police 
Chiefs, who currently operate dispatch services; Fire and Rescue Chiefs, who had a large stake in 
the improvement of dispatch to better serve fire and EMS; and Managers considered an early draft 
DeltaWRX report which had large, startup capital and pre-operational operating costs, and an all at 
once “go live.”  Given the lack of a countywide or regional government to stand up or fund the 
organization, and a concern for the need to integrate all systems and technologies at once,   
DeltaWRX modified the proposal to accommodate an incremental approach. 

This incremental approach was accommodated both in the governance model and the financial 
model.  The Union Municipal District agreement does not require incrementalism, but permits it.  This 
approach, would have allowed multiple transitions leading up to full regional dispatch and PSAP 
operations to occur with:  

1) Minimal expansions in operating costs
2) Recycling equipment, reducing capital costs
3) Incremental expansions in use of existing radio infrastructure and dispatching policies to

cover more and more public safety agencies
4) Savings in staff to occur with attrition of staff over time
5) An iterative approach of operations planning, testing, training, and improvement for each

community’s onboarding

Based on this model, reports from DeltaWRX included statements that regional dispatch “Transitions 
to a PSAP,” “Functions as a dispatch center until Shelburne joins, at which time it will become a 
PSAP.”  Shelburne was initially very interested in moving to regional dispatch.  However, of the six 
communities that voted, it was the only one not to have support representing all three emerrgency 
services (fire, emergency medical, and police).  Based on the public input, the fact that Shelburne 
was already a PSAP seemed to be a major factor in their lack of interest in becoming part of the 
union municipal district. 

C: Public Information: Primary Messaging.  There were four primary messages in our public 
information: 1) Staffing: 2) Mutual Aid: 3) Fire and EMS oversight; and, 4) local dispatch and PSAP 
consolidation.  The latter was, however, most easily understood by the public.  More detailed 
information always included information about the incremental approach.  It was never portrayed that 
regional dispatch would operate as a PSAP on day 1.  

D: Moving Forward, PSAP necessary to make regional dispatch function as desired.  

Standing up regional dispatch for six communities is going to be a complex chore spanning multiple 
years.  While I do not know the appropriate time frame to become a PSAP, it will need to be 
determined by a professional responsible for the future operations of the facility. 

However, given Shelburne’s vote and that becoming a PSAP is a primary goal, it is important to 
formally notice the Vermont E911 Board that we intend to become a PSAP in order to realize our 
goals of saving significant time now taken up by the PSAP/911 call and information transfer process. 



DRAFT RESOLUTION REQUESTING PSAP DISGNATION FOR CCPSA 1 

RESOLVED BY THE CHITTENDEN COUNTY PUBLIC SAFETY AUTHORITY: 2 

WHEREAS, in May of 2016, public safety chiefs and municipal leaders from throughout Chittenden 3 

County began a dialog on the concept of regional dispatch for emergency services; a concept that has 4 

been discussed for the past 50 years; and  5 

WHEREAS, in the spring of 2017, legislative bodies in eight communities appointed members member to 6 

the Joint Survey Committee for Chittenden County Public Safety Services as the first formal step in 7 

establishing a union municipal district dedicated to regional public safety dispatch; and 8 

WHEREAS, in January of 2018, legislative bodies in seven communities approved placing a question on 9 

the March ballot for voter consideration to enter into an agreement for the formation of a union municipal 10 

district to be known as the Chittenden County Public Safety Authority for the purpose of providing 11 

regional emergency dispatch; and 12 

 13 

WHEREAS, at the March 2018 Town Meeting, voters in six communities encompassing a population of 14 

almost 100,000, supported the ballot question forming the Chittenden County Public Safety Authority; 15 

and  16 

WHEREAS, the charter of the Chittenden County Public Safety Authority contains a provision that 17 

expresses the intention to become a public safety answering point (PSAP) for the approximate 40,000 18 

emergency calls from the catchment area in an effort to reduce response times; and  19 

WHEREAS, the members of the Chittenden County Public Safety Authority thank Executive Director 20 

Barb Neal and Chairman Gary Taylor of the E911 Board for supporting our request to become a PSAP in 21 

a meeting with Commissioner Anderson. 22 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Chittenden County Public Safety Authority request 23 

approval from the Vermont Enhanced 911 Board for designation as a public safety answering point once 24 

operational and ready to accept the responsibility. 25 

DATED AT ___________________________, Vermont, this _____ day of _________________, 2018. 26 

 27 

     _______________________________________________ 28 



 Regional Services Study
Financial Report 

4/02/2018

FY17 Revenue Total  Revenue Collected as of 10/30/2017
Collected 41,000.00 $91,000.00

Expenses to Date
"FY18 Revenue" 12/31/2016 DeltaWRX 1/12/2017 #795 27,364.00
*Early Request Winooski Regional Dispatch CCollected $2,285 02/17/2017 DeltaWRX 2/17/2017 #803  9,538.19
*Early Request Shelburne Regional Dispatch CCollected $2,349 03/01/2017 Paul Frank & Collins - conference with town officials 295.00
*Early Request Williston Regional Dispatch CCollected $2,815 03/10/2017 Stitzel Page & Fletcher 2,478.75
*Early Request So Burlington, CitRegional Dispatch CCollected $5,792 03/28/2017 Stitzel - 02/17 - 02/28 - 11375 - Emails to and from C Baker 2,786.15
*Early Request Colchester Regional Dispatch CCollected $5,436 03/31/2017 PFC - Services rendered thru 03/31/2017 147.50

Burlington FD Regional Dispatch CCollected $13,345 04/24/2017 Stitzel -3/1 - 3/7 - phone conference & email with Frank, Ba 817.00
Essex Regional Dispatch CCollected $6,358 05/31/2017 REM Development Company - Lease Option Agreement 5,000.00
Milton Regional Dispatch CCollected $3,320 06/26/2017 Stitzel - 5/30 - 5/31 - emails with CB and A. Frank 95.00
Jericho Regional Dispatch CCollected $1,588 07/20/2017 Stitzel - 6/5 - 6/30 - agreement, etc. 1,874.30
Hinesburg Regional Dispatch CCollected $1,403 8/7/2017 Paul Frank & Collins - conference with Aaron Frank and Jessie Ba 383.50
Richmond Regional Dispatch CCollected $1,297 8/22/2017 Stitzel Page & Fletcher 3,101.05
Charlotte Regional Dispatch CCollected $1,201 10/3/2017 Stitzel Page & Fletcher - August services 2,519.83
Underhill Regional Dispatch CCollected $958 10/27/2017 Stitzel Page & Fletcher - September services 7,163.64
Westford Regional Dispatch CCollected $611 10/31/2017 PFC - Services rendered thru 10/18/2017 265.50
Huntington Regional Dispatch CCollected $606 11/16/2017 Stitzel Page & Fletcher - October services 3,581.75
Bolton Regional Dispatch CCollected $393 12/18/2018 Stitzel Page & Fletcher - December services 1,795.80
St. George Regional Dispatch CCollected $243 1/30/2018 Stitzel Page & Fletcher - January services 1,734.40

Total $91,000 1/31/2018 Paul Frank & Collins - services through Jan 59.00
1/31/2018 Stitzel Page & Fletcher - January services 38.00

2/28/2018 CCRPC - posters for Regional Dispatch press event 64.20
2/28/2018 Center for Media & Democracy - taping/produce PSA 3,222.50
3/20/2018 Stitzel Page & Fletcher - March services 114.00

Total 74,439.06

$16,560.94 after approvals Cash Balance

 Page 1 of 1


	1a UMD Memo Re proecess
	1b AGREEMENT TO CREATE PSA-FINAL with All signatures
	2a. appointments
	2b. oath of office
	3. CCPSA Certificate of Election (2018)
	4. CCPSA Rules of Transaction Annual Meeting Items
	1. GENERAL
	2. RULES OF ORDER
	3. ELECTION / APPOINTMENT OF OFFICERS
	4. DUTIES OF OFFICERS
	5. CCPSA BOARD MEETINGS – PUBLIC ACCESS
	6. QUORUMS AND VOTING
	7. VOTING
	8. COMMITTEES
	9. RESOLUTIONS AND MOTIONS
	10.  SPECIAL CCPSA BOARD MEETINGS
	11.  DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC SAFETY COMMUNICATIONS
	12.  PUBLIC HEARING NOTICES
	13.  EXAMINING AND ALLOWING CLAIMS
	14.  RULE AMENDMENTS

	5 + 6 CCPSA Memo 3.15.18 re insurance
	10 a.history of study effort
	10 b. DRAFT RESOLUTION REQUESTING PSAP DISGNATION FOR CCPSA v.1
	13. Regional Dispatch Account_20180402



